
Proposed Administrative Consent Agreement 
Background Summary 

Subject: Mainely Grass Holding LLC 
 288 South River Rd. Bldg A, Unit 3 
 Bedford, NH 03110 

Date of Incident(s): April 29, 2020 - August 14, 2023 

Background Narrative:   On April 29, 2020, a licensed applicator for Mainely Grass applied 
Talstar P Insecticide, EPA Reg. No. 279-3206, to a residential property located in Kennebunk, ME 
for control of mosquitoes and ticks.  During a certified applicator record check on August 6, 2020, 
following up on a complaint of failure to notify, a Board inspector documented the application 
made on April 29, 2020, was conducted during wind speed of 13 mph per the pesticide application 
record.  The label for Talstar P states within the Mosquito Control directions for use, “Do not apply 
when speed exceeds 10 MPH.” 

On August 20, 2020, the Board received a complaint regarding failure to notify a member of the 
2020 Pesticide Notification Registry.  A follow-up inspection conducted by a Board inspector 
indicated that the Company made pesticide applications at 1 & 3 Oceanview Ave. in 
Kennebunkport on August 18, 2020.  Both 1 &3 Oceanview Ave. are within 250 feet of a member 
of the Pesticide Notification Registry and were properly listed.  The Company could not provide 
documentation of attempted notification for these applications.  The Company also failed to notify 
this registrant prior to a pesticide application at 1 Oceanview Ave. on July 20, 2022. 

On September 13, 2022, the Board received an email from a member of the 2022 Pesticide 
Notification Registry in York, stating that a pesticide application had been made at their neighbor’s 
property without proper notification.  A follow-up inspection conducted by a Board inspector 
indicated that the Company made a pesticide application of Wisdom TC Flowable Insecticide, 
EPA Reg. No. 5481-520 to the yard at 3 Ash Lane in York to control ticks and mosquitoes on 
September 12, 2022.  The property at 3 Ash Lane, York is within 250 feet of a member of the 2022 
Pesticide Notification Registry.  The Company did not make proper notification to the registrant. 
The Company also failed to notify this registrant prior to a pesticide application at 3 Ash Lane on 
April 20, 2023. 

On April 20, 2023, the Board received a complaint from a resident in Kennebunk who was 
concerned about possible pesticide drift to their property from an application made at the 
neighboring property.  On April 20, 2023, two Board inspectors visited the complainant’s property 
in Kennebunk and collected two foliage samples from the complainant’s property and one from 
the target property.  A follow-up inspection with the Company applicator determined that an 
application of Bisect L Insecticide, EPA Reg. No. 34704-955, was made at 21 Ocean View Road 
in Kennebunk to control mosquitoes and ticks on April 19, 2023.  The laboratory sample results 

12



report for bifenthrin, the active ingredient in Bisect L Insecticide, showed residue concentrations 
of 73 parts per million on the target site and 27 parts per million on the complainant’s property. 
 
On July 13, 2023, the Board received a complaint alleging that the Company made a pesticide 
application to their property in Biddeford, Maine, without authorization.  During the course of the 
inspection, the Board inspector ascertained that an application of Progaea TM Pro, an EPA 
minimum risk pesticide exempt from federal registration requirement to 15 Long Avenue in 
Biddeford to control mosquitoes and ticks on July 13, 2023.  The inspection discovered that the 
application was intended and authorized to occur at 17 Long Avenue in Biddeford. 
 
On July 28, 2023, the Board received a complaint from a participant in the 2023 Maine Pesticide 
Notification Registry alleging that the Company failed to provide prior notification about a 
pesticide application made to an adjacent residential property in Kennebunk on July 27, 2023.  The 
Board inspector ascertained that an application of Talstar P, EPA Reg. No. 279-3206, occurred at 
20 Sea Garden Circle in Kennebunk, Maine, to control mosquitoes and ticks on July 27, 2023.  The 
property at 20 Sea Garden Circle is within 250 feet of the registry member’s property.  The 
Company failed to notify the registrant. 
 
On August 14, 2023, the Board received a complaint from a resident in Saco who observed a 
pesticide application to an abutting property and was concerned about possible pesticide drift.  A 
Board inspector visited the complainant’s property and collected foliage samples from the 
complainant’s property and the intended target area.  The inspection determined that Talstar P 
Insecticide, EPA Reg. No. 279-3206, was applied at 1 Foley Avenue in Saco to control mosquitoes 
and ticks on August 14, 2023.  The laboratory sample results report for bifenthrin, the active 
ingredient in Talstar P Insecticide, showed residue concentrations of 97 parts per million on the 
target site and 12 parts per million on the complainant’s property. 
 
 
Summary of Violations:  CMR 01-026, Chapter 28, Section 2 (D) requires commercial 
applicators to provide advance notification of outdoor pesticide applications made within 250 feet 
of the property of any participant on the current year Notification Registry. 

The violations described above are considered a second, third, fourth and fifth offense within a 
four-year period pursuant to 7 M.R.S. § 616-A (2) A (2). 
 
7 U.S.C. § 136j(a)(2)(G) and 7 M.R.S. § 606(2)(B) prohibit the use of a pesticide inconsistent with 
its label. 
 
The label for Talstar P states within the Mosquito Control directions for use, “Do not apply when 
speed exceeds 10 MPH.” 
 
01-026 C.M.R. ch. 22, § 4(B)(II) provides that “off-target drift of pesticides from a nearby 
application that are 1% or greater of the residue in the target area are considered prima facie 



evidence that the application was not conducted in a manner to minimize drift to the maximum 
extent practicable.” 
 
01-026 C.M.R. ch. 20, § 6 requires that, “No person may apply a pesticide to a property of another 
unless prior authorization for the pesticide application has been obtained from the owner, manager 
or legal occupant of that property.” 
 
Rationale for Settlement:  Mainely Grass Holding LLC, accepts responsibility for these 
violations by entering into this proposed consent agreement.  The Company has instituted new 
notification practices to comply with Chapter 28.  The Company has worked with Board staff to 
have better understanding of these violations, how they have occurred and what practices and 
training can be implemented to avoid these incidents in the future. 
 

Attachments:  Proposed Consent Agreement 
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